Administrative Law Judge Temporarily Bars Chinese Affiliates of "Big Four" Auditing Firms From Practice

February 18, 2014

SIMPSON

THACHER

On January 22, 2014, U.S. Administrative Law Judge Cameron Elliott issued an initial decision censuring the Chinese affiliates of Ernst & Young, KPMG, Deloitte, and Pricewaterhouse Coopers, and denying them the privilege of practicing or appearing before the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC" or the "Commission") for six months, due to their willful refusal to produce requested audit work papers to the SEC in violation of Section 106 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 ("Sarbanes-Oxley") and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act").¹ The four auditing firms appealed the decision to the five members of the SEC on February 12, 2014.

I. FACTS

The four Chinese accounting firms performed audit work for ten China-based U.S. issuers whose securities are registered with the SEC. At some point, each of the ten issuers became the subject of a fraud investigation by the SEC's Division of Enforcement (the "Division"). During the course of these investigations, the Division served the issuers' respective auditing firms (through their designated U.S. agents) with requests for audit work papers and related documents, pursuant to Sarbanes-Oxley Section 106.² Each of the accounting firms declined to produce the work papers despite their expressed willingness to cooperate, citing Chinese law prohibiting the production of work papers and related documents to U.S. regulators and the potentially serious penalties that could be imposed on them for violating this directive.

See <u>In the Matter of BDO China Dahua CPA Co., et al.</u>, Initial Decision Release No. 553, File Nos. 3-14872, 3-15116 (Jan. 22, 2014). The judge also censured a fifth firm – BDO China Dahua CPA Co., Ltd. – but did not bar it from practice.

² Sarbanes-Oxley Section 106(b)(1), as amended by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act ("Dodd-Frank"), provides, in relevant part: "If a foreign public accounting firm performs material services upon which a registered public accounting firm relies in the conduct of an audit or interim review, issues an audit report, performs audit work, or conducts interim reviews, that foreign public accounting firm shall— (A) produce the audit work papers of the foreign public accounting firm and all other documents of the firm related to any such audit work or interim review to the Commission or the [Public Company Accounting Oversight] Board, upon request of the Commission or the Board." 15 U.S.C. § 7216(b)(1).

II. THE INITIAL DECISION

In determining whether the auditing firms' actions violated the law, Judge Elliott focused on Sarbanes-Oxley Section 106(e), which provides that "a willful refusal to comply . . . with any request by the Commission . . . under this section, shall be deemed a violation of this Act."³ The judge interpreted the word "refusal" as a "failure to comply" with a request for audit papers.⁴ He also determined, based on "analogous provisions of the Exchange Act . . ., the language of Sarbanes-Oxley overall, and pertinent opinions and releases from the Board and the Commission," that "willfulness" simply means "choosing to act or not to act after receiving notice that action was requested," and does not require a showing of bad faith.⁵ The judge, therefore, held that since each auditing firm received notice of at least one Sarbanes-Oxley Section 106 request but chose not to comply with it, each firm willfully refused to comply with the request.

Having found that the auditing firms willfully violated a provision of the federal securities laws, Judge Elliott held that they may be sanctioned, as long as it is in the public interest to do so. The judge weighed various factors in determining whether and which sanctions would be in the public interest. Judge Elliott explained that on the one hand, the auditing firms "have failed to recognize the wrongful nature of their conduct, their occupation presents opportunities for future violations, and their assurances against future violations are insincere. On the other hand, their violations were not particularly egregious, the recurrent nature of their violations carries little weight, and they did not act with scienter."⁶ Under these circumstances, the judge opined that a permanent practice bar would be too severe a sanction, but that a mere censure would not serve as an effective deterrent, and thus concluded that a censure coupled with a sixmonth practice bar would be in the public interest.

Notably, in evaluating the appropriate sanction, Judge Elliott rejected the auditing firms' contention that they acted in good faith as they were willing to produce the requested documents but were prevented from doing so by Chinese law. The judge expressed "little sympathy" for the firms, each of which "registered with the Board knowing that it might be required to provide audit work papers" and was later "notified by the Board that it was subject to all applicable U.S. laws," yet made the affirmative decision to perform audit work for U.S. issuers at their own risk, "knowing that a failure to directly produce documents pursuant to Sarbanes-Oxley 106 might be a violation of Sarbanes-Oxley."⁷ In Judge Elliott's opinion, the auditing firms' position that they should now be relieved of a duty of which they were well aware "does not demonstrate good faith, indeed, quite the opposite – it demonstrates gall."⁸

- ⁶ Id. at 109.
- ⁷ Id. at 105.
- ⁸ Id.

³ In the Matter of BDO China Dahua CPA Co., et al., at 88 (citing 15 U.S.C. § 7216(e)).

⁴ *Id.* at 89.

⁵ *Id.* at 88-93.

III. POTENTIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE DECISION

Since the Chinese auditing firms appealed the initial decision to the SEC (and are likely to appeal any unfavorable decision by the SEC to the U.S. Court of Appeals), the sanctions imposed by the initial decision will not yet take effect. If, however, after their appeals are exhausted – a process which could take months or even years – the auditing firms are temporarily suspended from practicing before the SEC, their suspension may have a significant impact not only on U.S. issuers based in China, but also on those with operations in China.

During the six-month suspension period, the Chinese branches of U.S.-traded corporations, many of which currently use the Chinese affiliates of the "big four" public accounting firms, will be unable to rely on these local firms to perform their audits. This will likely cause some disruption, as audit work will need to be transferred to smaller Chinese public accounting firms or to accounting firms located in other countries; however, the potential magnitude of any disturbance is unclear. In their appeal, the "big four" Chinese auditing firms argue (as they did before Judge Elliott) that the collateral consequences of their suspension will be severe, likely leaving many China-based U.S. issuers without an auditor and complicating the audits of countless multinational companies that rely on Chinese audit firms. Judge Elliott, however, was unconvinced; in his view, the Division "persuasively demonstrate[d]" that there are "adequate substitutes" for China's "big four" accounting firms that have produced audit work papers without objection.⁹ Thus, the precise impact of the suspension – if it is upheld – remains to be seen. In the meantime, U.S. issuers that use one of the Chinese affiliates of the "big four" public accounting firms may consider getting their auditors' views regarding the expected impact of the potential sanction and inquiring whether their auditors suggest devising a prospective action plan.

* * *

If you have any questions or would like additional information, please do not hesitate to contact <u>Yafit Cohn</u> at (212) 455-3815 or <u>yafit.cohn@stblaw.com</u>, or any other member of the Firm's Public Company Advisory Practice.

This memorandum is for general information purposes and should not be regarded as legal advice. Please contact your relationship partner if we can be of assistance regarding these important developments. The names and office locations of all of our partners, as well as our recent memoranda, can be obtained from our website, www.simpsonthacher.com.

The contents of this publication are for informational purposes only. Neither this publication nor the lawyers who authored it are rendering legal or other professional advice or opinions on specific facts or matters, nor does the distribution of this publication to any person constitute the establishment of an attorney-client relationship. Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP assumes no liability in connection with the use of this publication.

⁹ Id. at 107.

UNITED STATES

New York

425 Lexington Avenue New York, NY 10017 +1-212-455-2000

Houston

2 Houston Center 909 Fannin Street Houston, TX 77010 +1-713-821-5650

Los Angeles

1999 Avenue of the Stars Los Angeles, CA 90067 +1-310-407-7500

Palo Alto

2475 Hanover Street Palo Alto, CA 94304 +1-650-251-5000

Washington, D.C.

1155 F Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20004 +1-202-636-5500

EUROPE

London

CityPoint One Ropemaker Street London EC2Y 9HU England +44-(0)20-7275-6500

ASIA

Beijing

3919 China World Tower 1 Jian Guo Men Wai Avenue Beijing 100004 China +86-10-5965-2999

Hong Kong

ICBC Tower 3 Garden Road, Central Hong Kong +852-2514-7600

Seoul

West Tower, Mirae Asset Center 1 26 Eulji-ro 5-gil, Jung-gu Seoul 100-210 Korea +82-2-6030-3800

Tokyo

Ark Hills Sengokuyama Mori Tower 9-10, Roppongi 1-Chome Minato-Ku, Tokyo 106-0032 Japan +81-3-5562-6200

SOUTH AMERICA

São Paulo

Av. Presidente Juscelino Kubitschek, 1455 São Paulo, SP 04543-011 Brazil +55-11-3546-1000